
 Agenda

Page 1

Cabinet Member (Education)

Time and Date
2.00 pm on Wednesday, 8th April, 2015

Place
Committee Room 3 - Council House

Public Business

1. Apologies  

2. Declarations of Interest  

3. Minutes  

(a) To agree the minutes of the meeting held on 10th March 2015
           (Pages 3 - 10)

(b) Matters arising  

4. Feedback from the Consultation on Potential Changes to the Eligibility 
Policy for School Transport for Pupils with Special Education Needs and 
Disabilities  (Pages 11 - 30)

Report of the Executive Director of People

5. Determination of School Terms and Holidays 2016 - 2017  (Pages 31 - 46)

Report of the Executive Director of People

6. Outstanding Issues  

There are no outstanding issues

7. Any Other Items of Public Business  

Any other items of public business which the Cabinet Member decides to take 
as matters of urgency because of the special circumstances involved.

Private Business
Nil

Chris West, Executive Director of Resources, Council House, Coventry

Friday, 27 March 2015

Public Document Pack



Page 2

Note: The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is 
Michelle Salmon, Governance Services, Tel: 024 7683 3065, E-mail: 
michelle.salmon@coventry.gov.uk

Members: 
Councillor D Kershaw (Cabinet Member)
Councillor D Chater (Deputy Cabinet Member)
Councillor J Blundell (Shadow Cabinet Member)

Please note: a hearing loop is available in the committee rooms

If you require a British Sign Language interpreter for this meeting 
OR if you would like this information in another format or 
language please contact us.

Michelle Salmon 
Governance Services
Tel: 024 7683 3065
E-mail: michelle.salmon@coventry.gov.uk



– 1 –

Coventry City Council
Minutes of the Meeting of Cabinet Member for Education

held at 2.00 pm on Tuesday, 10 March 2015

Present:
Cabinet Member: Councillor D Kershaw
Other Members: Councillor J Blundell (Shadow Cabinet Member)

Councillor D Chater (Deputy Cabinet Member)
Councillor Lakha (for the matter in Minute 38 (vi) below)
Councillor Skinner (for the matter in Minute 38 (v) below)
Councillor Taylor(for the matter in Minute 38 (i) below)
Councillor Thomas (for the matter in Minute 39 below)

Employees (by Directorate):
People

Place

Resources

L Amery, P Barnett, S Heawood, M McGinty, D Wallis, 
J Teahan, P Weston

A Simpson

G Paddan

Apologies: Councillor Skipper (for the matter in Minute 38 (ii) below)

Public Business

35. Declarations of Interest 

Councillor Blundell declared a personal interest in the matter referred to in minute  
38 below relating to ‘Library Petitions’ and took no part in the discussions.

36. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 20 January 2015 were agreed and signed as a 
true record.  

37. Matters arising 

There were no matters arising.

38. Library Petitions 

The Cabinet Member for Education considered a report of the Executive Director 
of People that responded to a number of e-petitions and written petitions which 
had been presented to the Council requesting that it reconsider making cuts to 
local library services. These included petitions specifically related to the 
community libraries in Canley, Coundon, Earlsdon, Tile Hill and Willenhall and a 
further petition related more generally to the Library Service across the City. In 
accordance with the Council’s procedure for dealing with petitions, those related to 
library issues were heard by the Cabinet Member for Education.

Page 3

Agenda Item 3a



– 2 –

The Cabinet Member advised that the City Council was currently exploring 
alternative models of delivery which may retain services but deliver at a 
significantly reduced cost to the Council. Options would include the co-location of 
different services and opportunities to co-operate with statutory and non-statutory 
partners in the City. Any future proposals to make changes to the library service 
would be subject to public consultation.

The following six petitions were considered:

i) An e-petition headed “Keep Earlsdon Library Open”, bearing 1396 
signatures, organised by an Earlsdon Ward resident on behalf of the joint 
Earlsdon Neighbourhood Associations and sponsored by Councillor Ken 
Taylor OBE, an Earlsdon Ward Councillor. The e-petition had been 
supplemented by a similarly worded written petition of 1,649 names. 

Councillor Taylor and the petition organiser attended the meeting and spoke 
on behalf of the petitioners outlining the concerns of the residents should the 
library be closed. They indicated that the library was a community facility and 
provided more than the usual library services: it was a lifeline for mothers 
and toddlers; it assisted with homework; and supported families involved in 
literacy programmes.The Library was the second busiest in Coventry.

ii) An e-petition “Save Coundon Library, bearing 35 signatures, organised by a 
Radford Ward resident and sponsored by Councillor Skipper, a Radford 
Ward Councillor. 

Councillor Skipper and the petition organiser were unable to attend the 
meeting.

iii) An e-petition “Save Tile Hill Library”, bearing 53 signatures, organised by a 
Woodlands Ward resident.  

The Woodlands Ward Residents was unable to attend the meeting. 
 

iv) An e-petition “Against Library Closures” was considered, bearing a total of 
158 signatures, organised by the Coventry City Branch of UNISON. The e-
petition had been supplemented by a similarly worded written petition of 
2,253 names. 

The spokesperson for Unison attended the meeting and spoke in support of 
the petition indicating that the Library facility required skilled librarians to 
deliver the variety of activities and services required by the residents.  

v)     A written petition “Save Canley Library” was received bearing 136 signatures, 
organised by a Westwood Ward resident and sponsored by Councillor 
Skinner, a Westwood Ward Councillor.

Page 4



– 3 –

Councillor Skinner attended the meeting and spoke on behalf of the 
petitioners on the importance of retaining the library service for Canley 
residents and raised a number of concerns, in particular, protecting the 
vulnerable in the area. The petition organiser was unable to attend the 
meeting.

v) A written “Petition to save Willenhall Library” was received bearing 405, 
organised by a Binley and Willenhall Ward resident and sponsored by 
Councillor Lakha, a Binley and Willenhall Councillor.

The petition organiser and Councillor Lakha attended the meeting and spoke 
on behalf of the residents. They raised their concerns in respect of the level 
of service reduction that may be considered by the Council. The Willenhall 
Library building was not owned by the City Council.

RESOLVED, that after due consideration of the report and the matters raised 
at the meeting, the Cabinet Member for Education notes the petitions and 
requests that Officers write to the petition organisers to advise them of the 
Council’s current position and assure them that the petitioners will be 
encouraged to participate in any discussions in relation to the future of 
library services in Coventry.

39. Proposed Finham Park 2 Free School: e-Petition 

The Cabinet Member for Education considered a report of the Executive Director 
of People that responded to an e-petition bearing 446 signatures. The petition was 
organised by a Woodlands Ward Resident, requesting that the Council provide 
information in support of the petition regarding ‘the negative impact Finham Park 2 
will have on surrounding schools the Council will then supply this information to 
the Secretary of State under Section 9 of the Academies Act 2010’.

The Council was currently developing a strategy for addressing the anticipated 
shortfall of secondary school places over the coming year. The additional 
secondary year 7 places would not be required until September 2018 when only 
one additional FE would be required. The most acute need for additional 
secondary places would be during the period 2019 to 2022. The Council’s position 
regarding the proposal was set out in a letter to the Secretary of State dated 28 
January 2015.  

Councillor Thomas, a Woodlands Ward Councillor, spoke in support of the e-
petition and the intake of pupils for this school year.  The Cabinet Member and 
officers advised that since the report had been prepared events had progressed 
and that further discussions would be held with the petition organiser.

RESOLVED, that after due consideration of the report and the matters raised 
at the meeting, the Cabinet Member for Education notes the petition and 
agrees to further discussions with the petition organiser regarding the 
implications for neighbouring schools of the Secretary of State’s decision to 
enter a Funding Agreement with Finham Park 2.

Page 5



– 4 –

40. Adult Education Service Fees Strategy - Academic Year 2015-16 

The Cabinet Member for Education considered a report of the Executive Director 
of People that made recommendations for Adult Education course fees for the 
academic year 2015/2016, based on the requirements of Skills Funding Agency 
funding and comparisons with similar providers.   

The proposed fees related to accredited courses: classroom based (non-loans); 
Advanced Learning Loans for learners aged 24 plus; workplace based courses; 
and apprenticeships and non-accredited Community Learning courses: full fees; 
PTLL fees; 60 plus fees; single session workshops; courses requiring additional 
resources; and non-chargeable courses.

The proposed amendments to the fee structure related to: 

 accredited courses funded through the SFA’s Adult Skills Budget (ASB):
o classroom based (non-loans)
o Advanced Learning Loans for learners aged 24 plus
o workplace based courses
o apprenticeships

 non-accredited Community Learning (CL) courses:
o full fees
o Passport to Leisure and Learning (PTLL) fees
o 60 plus fees
o single session workshops
o courses requiring additional resources
o currently non-chargeable courses in confidence building, 

assertiveness and short introductory courses in vocational subjects

RESOLVED that the Cabinet Member for Education:

1) Approves the recommendations of the Education and Children’s 
Services Scrutiny Board (2) to:
i)  Approve the Fee Strategy for the academic year 2015/16.
ii)  Look at areas where the Adult Education Service can be better used 

for Council in-house training.
iii)  Investigate further the drop in enrolments from 30% most deprived 

neighbourhoods in September 2014 and identify actions to address 
it.

2) Approves the Fee Strategy for the academic year 2015-2016. 

41. Coordinated School Admission Scheme for 2016 and Community and 
Voluntary Controlled School Admission Policies for 2016 

The Cabinet Member for Education considered a report of the Executive Director 
of People, on the Council’s Co-ordinated School Admission Schemes for 2016 and 
Community and Voluntary Controlled School Admission Policies for 2016 
(attached as Appendices to the report).

Page 6



– 5 –

Each year the Department for Education required Local Authorities to determine 
the co-ordination schemes for school admissions in their areas and the admission 
policies for community and voluntary controlled schools which were the 
responsibility of the Local Authority by 15 April.

In April 2006, the Cabinet agreed that consideration of reports on Coventry’s 
school admission arrangements would be delegated to the appropriate Cabinet 
Member in years where there were no significant changes to admission 
arrangements (minute number 196/06 refers).

All schemes and policies referred to in this report were considered by the School 
Admission Forum on 6 February 2015.  As there had been no significant changes 
to the schemes and policies since 2013, no consultation was required by the 
School Admissions Code 2014.

RESOLVED that the Cabinet member for Education:

1) Approves the Co-ordinated Admissions Scheme for Primary, Infant and 
Junior Schools in Coventry for 2016/17 and the Admissions Policy for 
Community and Voluntary Controlled Primary, Infant and Junior Schools 
for 2016/17, as set out in Appendix 1 to the report.

2) Approves the Co-ordinated Admissions Scheme for Secondary Schools 
in Coventry for 2016/17, as set out in Appendix 2 to the report.

42. Services to Schools Pricing Strategy for 2015-2016 

The Cabinet Member for Education considered a report of the Executive Director 
of People that detailed the pricing strategies of those Council services providing 
services to schools and provided an update on whether these services were 
achieving full cost recovery.

The report noted that the on-going financial situation presented significant 
challenges to the Council in balancing the revenue budget. Setting the appropriate 
level for fees and charges was an important element in raising revenue to meet 
the medium term financial pressures. It was also essential that the Council 
maximised its income to ensure that wherever possible it at least recovered its 
costs for the services that were provided. Any Council service which provided a 
service to schools was required to adopt a consistent charging policy for the 
delivery of services to all schools, the starting point of which was that services 
recovered the full cost of service delivery. The Council service was required to 
complete the Full Cost Recovery Tool on an annual basis to identify whether full 
cost recovery was achieved and if not, develop a pricing strategy or cost reduction 
strategy to move towards full cost recovery.

In identifying any shortfall between forecast income and expenditure, 
consideration needed to be given to the impact on school buy back if services 
increased charges by more than inflation. In cases such as this, action plans 
needed to include phased increases and/or cost reduction strategies to move 
towards full cost recovery. 

Page 7



– 6 –

It was recognised that there may be exceptions where there may be a valid reason 
why a service should not recover full cost, which would require approval.  
Appendix 1 to the report set out details of those services forecast to require a 
subsidy and that did not have an action plan to move towards full cost recovery.

RESOLVED that in line with the approved charging proposal reports of 
Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee on 23 January 2013 and the Cabinet 
Member for Strategic Finance and Resources and Finance and Corporate 
Services Scrutiny Board (1) on 29 July 2013, the Cabinet Member for 
Education:

1) Agrees proposed Service Level Agreement charge increases as set out 
in Appendix 1 of the report.

2) Requires services that are not achieving full cost recovery to set out a 
plan and timescale for moving towards full cost recovery. 

43. Appointment of Authority Governors 

RESOLVED that, having met the Local Authority criteria for the appointment 
of Local Authority Governors, the Cabinet Member for Education approves 
the appointment, recommended appointments and re-appointments of the 
persons listed below for the schools and terms of office indicated:-

Authority Governor: New Appointments 

Name School Term of Office

Councillor R Bailey Bishop Ullathorne Catholic School 9 March 2019

Local Authority Governor: Recommendations for Appointment

Name School Term of Office

Mr Dave Wallis Leigh CE Primary School 9 March 2019

Mrs Joy Willoughby Stoke Primary School 9 March 2019

Mr Mark Monaghan Stoke Heath Primary School 9 March 2019

Authority Governor: Re-Appointments 

Name School Term of Office

Mrs Ann Small Cannon Park Primary School 3 March 2019

Councillor L Bigham Foxford School and Community 
College

18 April 2019

Mr Norman Imber Manor Park Primary 18 April 2019

Page 8



– 7 –

44. Outstanding Issues 

RESOLVED that, the Cabinet Member for Education notes the report of the 
Executive Director of Resources containing an outstanding issue and that, 
as a report on the item listed had been submitted to this meeting (minute 40 
above refers), the matter could now be discharged.

45. Any Other Items of Public Business 

There were no other items of public business. 

(Meeting closed at 3.50 pm)

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 Public Report
Cabinet Member

Cabinet Member for Education                                                                     8 April 2015

Name of Cabinet Member: 
Cabinet Member for Education - Councillor D Kershaw

Director Approving Submission of the report:
Executive Director of People

Ward(s) affected:
All

Title: Feedback from the consultation on potential changes to the eligibility policy 
for transport for children and young people with Special Education Needs 
and Disabilities

Is this a key decision?
No - as this report provides feedback on the consultation only there is no impact on communities 

at this stage

Executive Summary:

On 12 November 2014 it was agreed that a public consultation would be started on 
possible changes to the eligibility criteria for pupils/students in receipt of Special 
Educational Needs transport to school/college.  The original proposal at that time was to 
implement any changes from September 2015.  This consultation started on 24 
November and ran until 23 January 2015. 

In December 2014, the Cabinet Member for Education released a statement delaying 
any possible decisions on revised eligibility criteria.  He stated that there would be no 
changes to the September 2015 criteria and that the consultation would continue in order 
to gather full public, parental and young people’s feedback into proposals.  It was made 
clear at that stage that any changes which may be proposed for September 2016 would 
be subject to a further period of statutory consultation.  

Recommendations:

The Cabinet Member (Education) is requested to: 

1. Note the responses received from the consultation and include consideration of 
these into any further decisions on whether to consult on changes to the eligibility 
criteria.  

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



List of Appendices included:

1. Consultation document used in consultation meetings (amended slightly following 
Cabinet Member statement in December 

2. Table of results of web responses

3. Details of the themes emerging from the seven public consultation events across 
the City. 

Background papers

None

Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?

Scrutiny considered the original proposal as part of their meeting on 27 November 2014.  
This was prior to the Cabinet Member statement in December 2014. 

Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory 
Panel or other body?
 
No

Will this report go to Council?

No

Page 12



Report title: Feedback from the consultation on potential changes to the eligibility 
policy for transport for pupils/students with Special Education Needs 
and Disabilities

1. Context (or background)

1.1 On 12 November 2014 the Cabinet Member for education agreed to initiate a 
consultation on changing the eligibility criteria for school/college transport for 
pupils/students with special education needs and disabilities. Consultation started 
on 24 November 2014 and ended on 23 January 2015.  

1.2 The consultation was initiated following the Department for Education issuing new 
statutory guidance on the provision of school travel assistance in 2014. Coventry 
City Council currently offers a greater entitlement than that which is statutorily 
required. Current mainstream travel assistance is in line with the statutory 
minimum required by the Department of Education.  The consultation was 
considering bringing the eligibility for pupils with Special Education Needs and 
Disabilities in line with the statutory minimum.

1.3 At the moment, approximately 1000 children and young people qualify for some 
form of travel assistance (minibuses, taxis or personal travel budgets) under the 
revised proposals, an estimated 270 under 16’s would no longer have been 
eligible for any assistance and an estimated 65 post 16s would have been 
charged for any transport they received. (The reason this is estimated is because 
an assessment of eligibility based on needs of the child/young person would need 
to take place to determine who does receive assistance)

1.4 On 9 December 2014 following some feedback to the consultation, the Cabinet 
Member for Education announced that plans to revise eligibility from September 
2015 would not be progressed.  He was keen, however that the consultation 
continued so that people could give their views of possible changes to eligibility so 
that these could be considered in any future decision making.  

2. Options considered and recommended proposal

2.1 The consultation focused on identified areas where savings could have been 
made These were:

a) To cease transport provision for early years (pre– reception) pupils.  

This currently costs £70k for a full year. The transport currently provided goes 
to the specialist ASD provision at Larch House (on the Corley Site), to 
Limbrick Centre for youngsters with special needs and to Cannon Park Annex 
for youngsters with hearing and visual impairment.  Additionally all of the 
broad spectrum primary special schools can have nursery age youngsters and 
currently these are transported

Page 13



b) To cease free post 16 transport for schools and colleges (except in cases of a 
pupil with a severe learning disability) 

This currently costs an estimated cost of £190k for a full year.  

c) To introduce charging for any post 16 transport which is provided

The proposal is to introduce a charge equivalent to a termly “Centro” 16-18 
bus pass for any transport provided.  

d) To align the distance criteria for automatic eligibility for travel assistance for 
pupils with SEND to the same qualifying distance criteria as mainstream 
pupils.  

For those pupils with SEND who no longer receive automatic eligibility based 
on distance, there will be an individual assessment to determine whether travel 
assistance is required.  

3. Results of consultation undertaken

3.1 This paper outlines in detail the consultation responses received.  There were 7 
consultation events held at various venues across the City.  The venues and 
attendance details are in the table below:

Date Location Numbers attended 

Tuesday 2 December 
2014

Sherbourne Fields School 32

Wednesday 3 December 
2014

Corley Centre 9

Tuesday 6 January 2015 Hereward College 7

Wednesday 7 January 
2015

Alderman’s Green School 2

Thursday 8 January 2015 Baginton Fields School 14

Thursday 8 January 2015 Diamond Room 2 1

Monday 12 January 2015 Woodfield  School 2 

3.2 In addition to the consultation events there was an online questionnaire to which 
139 people responded.  Most of them (113) responded before the announcement 
by the Cabinet Member to not implement from September 2015.

3.3 Overall, once the Cabinet Member made his announcement, there was a 
significant reduction in engagement with the consultation.  

Page 14



3.4 Summary of responses

3.4.1 Scrutiny Board
The proposals were discussed at the Education and Children Scrutiny Board (2) 
meeting on 27 November 2014.  Members raised a number of questions and 
issues.  They were concerned at the impact of ceasing transport for pre-school 
children and the negative effect that could have on their development and success 
in future.  They were also concerned about the assessment criteria to establish 
whether travel assistance would be provided when the distance criteria was not 
met.  They also wanted further clarity on the make-up of the appeal panel for 
cases where travel assistance was not granted.    
 

3.4.2 Online
From the online survey as well as from feedback at consultation events, it was 
very clear that those parents, staff and members of the public in attendance were 
largely opposed to the changes.  Less than 2% of the online respondents who 
indicated an answer said the changes would have a positive effect.  Nearly 85% 
said it would have a negative effect with the remainder unsure.  An allocation of 
the reasons given by those who added text to the online response is included at 
Appendix 2.

3.4.3 Events
Similarly at the events there was considerable opposition to the proposals with 
many areas of concern raised.  The main focus was the implications of removing 
travel assistance and what that would mean for families as well as the 
assessment criteria by which travel assistance was allocated where the distance 
criteria was not met.  Each consultation event had very similar concerns raised.  
Details of the themes of these concerns are given at Appendix 3.
At each event attendees were asked to suggest alternative ways to reduce the 
costs of travel assistance, but there was very little input to those discussions.  
Extensions to independent travel training were not generally popular.  

3.4.4 Direct emails / correspondence
There were few direct emails / letters received but these were all in opposition to 
the proposals.  The issues raised included costs of alternatives and preventing 
young people being able to access appropriate provision.  

3.4.5 Feedback from young people
Young people at Corley centre were invited to give feedback directly through the 
staff.  This was consolidated and fed back.  The issues raised by these young 
people focused on cost of transport, the fact that there is no direct bus service to 
Corley, concerns about bus travel in terms of being victimised and concerns about 
what would happen when arrangements fell through.  This group did however offer 
some helpful suggestions around supported group travel to / from Pool Meadow 
with a recognised escort.  

3.4.5 Assessment criteria – clarity provided during consultation period
As described above some of the feedback received was concerned with the 
criteria for deciding on whether a young person who did not receive travel 
assistance based on distance could in fact still be eligible for assistance.  As this 

Page 15



concern was raised in a number of meetings, in late December a draft 
assessment criteria document was created and shared at later consultation 
events.  This draft document, is at Appendix 4. 

4. Timetable for implementing this decision

4.1 There is currently no timescale for implementation as it has been agreed that no 
changes will be implemented from September 2015.  Were the Council to wish to 
change eligibility from September 2016, then a further statutory consultation would 
need to be held of 28 working days not including school holidays and in time to 
allow for publication of the policy by 31 May 2016. 

5. Comments from Executive Director of Resources

5.1 Financial implications

Spend on SEN Transport provision in 2013/14 amounted to £3.4m against a 
budget of £3.2m resulting in a £0.2m overspend.  This overspend is forecast to 
continue at the same level in 2014/15 and could increase slightly due to increased 
special school placements.  Significant actions have already been taken to reduce 
the transport overspend which previously stood at £0.8m overspend.  

The review of SEN transport forms part of the SEND fundamental service review 
which has an overall saving target of £1m.  £0.7m of the savings target has 
already been achieved with the forecast transport savings expected to meet the 
majority of the shortfall in 2015/16.  

As a result of the political decision to not implement changes in September 2015 
the savings target will not be achieved.  One off Corporate resource has been 
identified to meet this shortfall in 2015/16, however savings will need to be 
identified to meet the shortfall in 2016/17.

5.2 Legal implications

The home to school travel and transport guidance: Statutory Guidance for Local 
Authorities (July 2014) states that local authorities should consult widely on any 
proposed change to their local policies on school travel arrangements with all 
interested parties. Consultations should last for at least 28 working days during 
term time. This period should be extended to take account of any school holidays 
that may occur during the period of consultation.

S508B of the Education Act 1996 sets out the categories of children in the local 
authority’s area for whom the authority is required to make travel arrangements. 
Schedule 35B of the Act sets out the definition of “eligible children” for the 
purposes s508B. The local authority has a duty to ensure that suitable travel 
arrangements to and from school are made where necessary to facilitate the 
attendance of children of compulsory school age at a qualifying school. Where the 
local authority is under a statutory duty to provide travel assistance it must be 
supplied free of charge. The local authority is under a statutory duty to provide 
travel assistance where the child’s nearest qualifying school is beyond the 

Page 16



statutory waking distance, which for children under the age of 8 is where they live 
more than 2 miles from their nearest qualifying school; and for children over the 
age of 8 where they live more than 3 miles from their nearest qualifying school. 
The local authority also has a statutory duty to provide free travel assistance 
where, because of the nature of the walking route, it is not reasonable to expect 
the child to walk to school (accompanied as necessary) because of their special 
educational needs, disability or mobility problems.

In addition the local authority has a statutory duty to provide free of charge travel 
assistance to children over the age of 8 and below the age of 11, from low income 
families (where the parent/carer for the child meets the criteria for their child to be 
entitled to free school meals, or where the family is in receipt of the maximum 
level of Working Tax Credit (WTC), where they live more than 2 miles from their 
nearest qualifying school. In respect of children over the age of 11 from low 
income families, they are eligible for free travel assistance to a choice of one of 
three of their nearest qualifying schools, where they live more than 2 miles but not 
more than 6 miles from the school. Children over the age of 11 from low income 
families are also eligible for free travel assistance to the nearest school preferred 
by reason of a parent’s religion or belief if they live more than 2 miles but not more 
than 15 miles from the qualifying school.

S509AA of the Education Act 1996 requires the local authority to publish annually 
by the 31 May each year a transport policy statement specifying the arrangements 
for the provision of transport or otherwise (which must include financial assistance 
in respect of reasonable travelling expenses and may include asking for a 
contribution to transport costs) that the local authority considers necessary for the 
purposes of facilitating the attendance of all persons of sixth form age who are 
receiving education or training at school; institutions maintained or assisted by the 
local authority providing further or higher education; institutions within the further 
education sector; 16-19 academies; and any establishment at which the local 
authority secures the provision of education or training for persons over 
compulsory school age but under 19, or over 19 with an Education Health and 
Care plan. The transport policy statement must set out the arrangements that are 
in place for facilitating the attendance of young people with learning difficulties 
and/or disabilities.

Public authority decision makers are under a duty to have due regard to 1) the 
need to eliminate discrimination, 2) advance equality of opportunity between 
people who share a protected characteristic and those who do not 3) foster good 
relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and 
people who do not (public sector equality duty - s 149(1) Equality Act 2010). The 
protected characteristics are sex, race, age, disability, religion or belief, sexual 
orientation, gender reassignment, pregnancy or maternity.

         
Decision makers must be consciously thinking about these three aims as part of 
their decision making process with rigour and with and open mind. The duty is to 
have “due regard”, not to achieve a result but to have due regard to the need to 
achieve these goals. Consideration being given to the potential adverse impacts 
and the measures needed to minimise any discriminatory effects.

Page 17



6. Other implications

6.1 How will this contribute to achievement of the Council's key objectives / 
corporate priorities (corporate plan/scorecard) / organisational blueprint / 
Local Area Agreement (or Coventry Sustainable Community Strategy)?
The results of this consultation will ensure that the views of those affected by any 
future change proposals can be fed into them should they be made. 

6.2 How is risk being managed?

N/A

6.3 What is the impact on the organisation?

There is no impact currently as changes are not currently proposed

6.4 Equalities / EIA 

A draft EIA was created for the changes on which consultation was taking place.  
As these changes are not now being implemented it has not been updated.  
However, should any further consultation in this area take place, then a revised 
EIA will be created using input from the consultation responses reported in this 
paper.  

6.5 Implications for  (or impact on) the environment

None

6.6 Implications for partner organisations?

Schools were involved in discussions as part of this consultation.  There are no 
implications for other partners.

Page 18



Report author(s): 

Name and job title: 
Isabel Merrifield, Assistant Director

Directorate: 
People

Tel and email contact: 
02476 833403
isabel.merrifield@coventry.gov.uk

Enquiries should be directed to the above person.

Contributor/approver 
name

Title Directorate or 
organisation

Date doc 
sent out

Date response 
received or 
approved

Contributors:
Michelle Salmon Governance 

Services 
Officer

Resources 6 March 
2015

6 March 2015

Marian Simpson Senior Officer 
SEN

People 6 March 
2015

16 March 2015

Sue Johnson Head of 
Business and 
Performance

People 6 March 
2015

7 March 2015

Helen Shankster Insight 
Manager 
(Engagement)

Chief 
Executive’s

6 March 
2015

13 March 2015

Adrian Coles Programme 
Delivery 
Manager

People 6 March 
2015

16 March 2015

Names of approvers 
for submission: 
(officers and Members)
Richard Adams Finance 

Manager
Resources 6 March 

2015
12 March 2015

Elaine Atkins Solicitor, Legal 
Services

Resources 6 March 
2015

10 March 2015

Brian Walsh Executive 
Director

People 25 March 
2015

26 March 2015

Councillor D Kershaw Cabinet 
Member for 
Education

- 16 March 
2015 

16 March 

This report is published on the council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings 

Page 19

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings


Appendix 1 – Consultation document – version used at events in January 2015

Changes to travel assistance policy for pupils in Coventry with Special 
Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND)

A consultation
Consultation period – 24 November 2014 – 23 January 2015

Please reply to this consultation through our online survey which can be found at:
www.coventry.gov.uk/SENDtravelsurvey2014

This document tells you about possible changes to the Local Authority’s Travel 
Assistance policy for pupils in Coventry with SEND that could be considered and how 

you can take part in the consultation. Please note that the  earliest any changes to 
eligibility would be considered is September 2016. Further information on the 

consultation, including a proposed new policy can be viewed at 
www.coventry.gov.uk/SENDtravelconsultation

Background
Every Local Authority has to provide travel assistance for pupils based on a number of 
specific criteria.  These include the distance from their home to the nearest suitable 
school, the age of the pupil and whether they have any special education needs and 
disabilities (SEND).
The Department for Education gives us guidance on what we must provide by law, but 
we do not receive dedicated funding to provide it.  At the moment, the City Council is 
providing a service which is above the legal minimum but in the current financial climate, 
we can no longer afford to guarantee to do this in future.

The current situation
The City Council currently has two travel assistance policies; one for pupils with no 
special needs and one for pupils with special needs. The eligibility criteria for these 
policies are different and we are proposing to align elements of the eligibility criteria and 
have them in one policy.
If we were to do this, it would mean there would be changes to the eligibility for travel 
assistance for some pupils with special education needs and disabilities.
At the moment (December 2014), approximately 1000 children and young people qualify 
for some form of travel assistance (minibuses, taxis or personal travel budgets) under the 
revised proposals, an estimated 270 under 16’s may no longer be eligible for any 
assistance and an estimated 65 post 16s may still be eligible but would be charged for 
any transport they received. (The reason this is estimated is because an assessment of 
eligibility based on needs of the child would need to take place to determine who does 
receive assistance)

Limiting the impact of these changes
For all pupils of statutory school age (5-16) there would still be an opportunity within the 
policy for their travel assistance needs to be met with support if their special need or 
disability means that they require this.  
If travel assistance is turned down, then a new appeal process is being introduced with a 
panel to hear a parent or carers appeal.
We have invested in additional ‘travel trainers’ who can help those young people who 
can be supported to develop their independent travel skills so they can travel without 
support.

Page 20

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/SENDtravelsurvey2014
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/SENDtravelconsultation


The legal requirements relating to additional support for travel for pupils in families on 
low income will apply for SEND pupils as they do currently for mainstream pupils. 

The detail of the changes being considered
The table below summarises the possible changes to our travel assistance policies.  
These would align our SEND travel assistance policies to meet the legal minimum 
statutory duties to provide travel assistance.

Current Change Future

Separate mainstream and 
SEND travel assistance 
policies

Aligning the policies One policy

Different distance criteria for 
eligibility

Use same distance 
criteria

Eligibility automatic over 
2 miles for up to 8 years, 
over 3 miles for over 8 
years

SEND early years pupils 
eligible for transport.  No 
mainstream early years 
transport provided

Align eligibility to 
statutory requirements

No early years transport 
or travel assistance 
provided

SEND post 16 transport 
provided free of charge, no 
transport for mainstream post 
16

Align policies No automatic eligibility 
post 16, (except for 
severe learning 
disabilities) those eligible 
will be charged the cost 
of a bus pass

What would be the impacts of these changes?
The table below gives an indication of the impacts this policy change could  have on 
numbers of pupils.  As we know that the nature of some special education needs and 
disabilities means that some pupils will always need some form of travel assistance, we 
have assumed that only half of all pupils would be affected by the policy change.

Type of pupil Change Estimated 
Impact (at 50% of 
cohort)

All Pupils living under 1 mile from 
school

No change (No 
automatic eligibility, 
but based on an 
individual assessment 
of need as now)

No change

Page 21



Pupils living between 1-2 miles of 
school and aged under 8 years

No automatic 
eligibility, but an 
individual assessment 
of need 

35 pupils affected

Pupils living 2 or more miles from 
school and aged under 8  (or those 
over 8 living over 3 miles from 
school)

No change No change

Pupils living  1-3 miles and aged 
over 8

No automatic 
eligibility, but an 
individual assessment 
of need 

110 pupils 

Pre-school / early years Cease transport 
entirely

60 children 
affected

Post 16 pupils with SEND attending 
school

40 pupils no 
longer eligible, 
any eligible pupils 
to be charged for 
provision

Post 16 pupils with SEND attending 
college

Cease assistance 
except for some 
pupils with 
significantly complex 
needs

25 pupils no 
longer eligible, 
any eligible pupils 
to be charged for 
provision

Introduce charging towards cost of 
all post 16 travel assistance

Charging 65 pupils 
(accounted for in 
post 16 above)

Total 270  / 65 charged

Further ideas to reduce the costs of travel assistance
Following the Council announcement that changes will not be introduced in September 
2015, we have more time to gather ideas as to how costs of travel assistance could be 
reduced other than by reducing who is eligible.  We could consider:

 Introducing drop off / pick up points rather than a door to door service
 Offering escorted public transport for small groups from bus stops on public bus 

routes
 Offering bus passes for pre-school parents 

We would be grateful for any suggestions from people at events or through the 
consultation questions on the web-site which may help reduce our costs and meet the 
reduction in our Council funding. 

Page 22



Responding to this consultation
Everyone is asked to respond via the online survey (whether you attend a meeting or 
not).  The questions on the survey are:

 How will this proposal affect you?
 If you have any comments on the current proposal or alternative suggestions, 

please write them in the space provided below
 What impact do you think the proposal could have for different groups of people 

(please consider age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, 
race/ethnicity, religion and belief, sex/gender, and sexual orientation)?

The survey will also ask for some demographic information so that we can be sure of 
responses and issues being raised by all sections of our community.
You can give your feedback at meetings which will be held in some special schools and 
other locations as follows

Date Time Location

Tuesday 6 January 
2015 2.30pm – 4.30pm

Hereward College
Bramston Crescent
Tile Hill
Coventry
CV4 9SW

Wednesday 7 January 
2015 09:30 – 11:30

Alderman’s Green School
Alderman’s Green Road
Coventry 
CV2 1PP

Thursday 8 January 
2015 9.45am – 11.45am

Baginton Fields School
Sedgemoor Road
Coventry
CV3 4EA

Thursday 8 January 
2015 6pm – 7.30pm

Diamond Room 2 
Council House
Earl Street
Coventry, CV1 5RR

Monday 12 January 
2015 3.45pm – 5.00pm

Woodfield  School
Hawthorne Lane Site
Coventry, CV4 9PB

What will happen next?
Following this consultation, views will be considered and ideas will be collated.  This will 
lead to more discussion with Councillors about how we might change the service and 
reduce costs in future.  
Should there be a decision to formally propose a change to the existing policy, then we 
will need to consult on the changes later in 2015 before being able to implement any 
changes for September 2016.  

Implementation
None of the above changes can be implemented without a further period of consultation.  
The Council has promised there will be no changes to eligibility in September 2015. 

Page 23



Responding to this consultation in writing
We would prefer an online response to our questionnaire (see the links at the start of the 
document), but if you are unable to respond online you may respond in writing to:

SEND Travel Assistance consultation
Room 238, Civic Centre 1
Earl Street, Coventry, CV1 5RS

Page 24



Appendix 2 – Summary on online responses 
The online survey offered respondents the opportunity to enter comments on the impact of the porposals.  These comments have 
been coded into various themes as follows:

Please give details of any positive or negative effects you anticipate

Comment 
count

Will prevent 
attendance at 
school/ make 
student late

Young person 
unable to travel 
independently or 
likely to find it 
extremely 
difficult

Lack of 
alternative 
transport 

Putting young 
person at risk of 
harm

Detrimental 
effect on young 
person's 
education/ 
development/ 
social integration

Added 
pressure/ 
stress

Will affect 
carer's ability 
to work

Difficulty of 
multiple 
school drop 
offs

Expense/ 
effect on 
families 
struggling 
financially

Increased 
traffic/ 
congestion

Limiting 
choices

Unlikely to be 
affected Other

84 30 13 15 9 14 8 7 14 16 2 2 3 13

What impacts do you think the proposal could have for different groups of people? (consider age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race/ethnicity, religion and belief, sex/gender, and sexual orientation)
Comment 
count

Disabled young 
people People in poverty Families/ carers Most vulnerable Type of impact Other

98 69 6 32 7 14 9

If you have any other comments on the current proposal and/or would like to make alternative suggestions, please write in the space provided below:

Comment 
count

Want service to 
continue/ 
personal story 
about benefit

Consider 
financial or other 
impact on 
families of 
proposals 

Unfair/ An 
additional burden 
for already 
vulnerable group

Make savings (or 
get the money) 
elsewhere

Council doesn't 
understand 
importance

Needs 
clarification/ 
assess on case 
by case basis Other

71 10 12 20 22 6 5 14

P
age 25



Appendix 3 – Summary of themes raised in consultation events by attendees

Wider Council issues and purpose of consultation
 The Council needs to get its priorities right and not target disabled children– for 

example spending money. The Council doesn’t care – all bother about is saving money.
Lack of clarity of travel assistance eligibility criteria
What are the eligibility criteria?

 Eligibility criteria needs to be published and understood (even as a high-level 
document) – consultation is meaningless because criteria aren’t set properly and 
unknown – too vague.

 Concern that safety of children/young people will be compromised.
 How will you get fairness and equity across the process?
 Why not say that those on high-rate disability allowance will still receive transport?
 Why isn’t there a definition of severe learning disabilities? (There needs to be – severe 

to one person may not be severe to another.)
 By not tightly defining criteria you will be spending a lot on appeals.
 How will the changing needs of children be taken into consideration?

Who will assess transport needs?
 How are they qualified to do this and what involvement will parents have in this process?
When will an assessment take place?

 At what stage will assessment take place 
 When will it take place on on-going basis?

Resource implications of travel assistance assessments
 Have full costs been taken into account? (e.g.  additional costs will be incurred: 

eligibility criteria, appeals, appeals process, pressure of schools for their input – overall 
costs will outweigh).

Timescales/phasing
 Positive that government guidance will be followed. Government guidance says that 

good practice is that changes are phased in. Therefore shouldn’t these changes be 
phased in? If fully implemented in September 2015, then this wouldn’t be following 
government guidance. (This raised in context of accusation of Council manipulation of 
wording of government guidance regarding Corley residential).

Issues with the current  fleet of vehicles
 Proposal are about cutting costs and not thinking about the impact on children.

Financial impact on families of proposals
Examples given of financial impact:

 Daughter is 16 years old the proposals mean that we will lose transport and have to 
pay a charge of £100 or I will have to transport her to school and back every day.

 Going to have to give up work to get my son to school. 
 £100/term is still a lot of money to find. Child placed at a special school but living further 

away – will not be able to work.
Early Years
 Concerns that younger children would not be able to benefit from early support to prepare 

them for education and that this may reduce their achievement later in life. 
Children will be on buses for longer

 Fewer buses on the road. Children may be on buses for longer.
 Want a good service if parents have to pay for it – and not have children and young 

people for too long.
Distance criteria

Page 26



 Clarity as to how distance would be measured
Travel training
 Proposals risk pushing children towards Travel training.  This may not be appropriate for all 

pupils 
Location of provision
 Specific issue that there is no public service bus to Corley and therefore no public transport 

alternative to that location if travel assistance is removed.  
Risk that children and young people will not go to school / will give up at 16 
 Parents won’t be able to transport a young person to school, so attendance will drop
 Parents will not able to afford post 16 fees so young people will have to leave education 

and this is not good for them 

Page 27



Appendix 4 – Draft proposed criteria for eligibility where distance requirement is not met.  
As discussed in consultation events, January 2015.

Assessing need of pupils with SEND for travel assistance

Transport assistance will be given if you are:

 A resident within Coventry

 The pupil lives more than the statutory walking distance from their nearest 
qualifying school. Statutory walking distance is defined as two miles for children 
from Reception to Year 3, and three miles for children from Year 4 to Year 11. The 
measurement of the “statutory walking distance” is measured by the shortest route 
along which a child, accompanied as necessary, may walk safely. The measured 
route may include footpaths, bridleways, and other pathways, as well as 
recognised roads. Walking distance will be measured from the centre of the home 
to the nearest school gate using the local authority geographical mapping 
measurement system.

 Your child is attending the nearest appropriate and allocated school to your home. 
If a school placement has been agreed on the grounds of parental preference and 
this school is not the nearest school with places available, there is no duty on the 
Council to provide travel assistance.  Where a parent(s) of a child with a 
Statement of SEN or Education, Health and Care (EHC) Plan request that their 
child attend a special school (or special provision) that is not the nearest suitable  
school that can meet need the parent(s) will be required to make and fund their 
own travel arrangements.

In addition the Council must also assess the travel needs of children or young people 
with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND) (including those aged 16 and 
over) and provide assistance which the Council considers suitable and necessary for the 
purpose of facilitating the child or young person's attendance at school. 

Wherever possible the Council expects parents/carers of pupils with a Statement of SEN 
or Education, Health and Care plan  to make arrangements for their child to attend 
school in the same way as for parents/carers of other pupils, as this is an important 
factor in developing the pupil's independence, social and life skills

All children with special educational needs will be considered carefully for eligibility for 
travel assistance at the point of their Statutory Assessment. The Local Authority will 
consider the assessment advice received for the EHC Plan or Statement of SEN. 

This will be kept under regular review by:
 seeking information from headteachers and other professionals involved
 checking the updated information at each statutory Annual Review meeting
 considering any additional evidence submitted by a parent.

Transport may be provided for pupils who do not meet the statutory distance described 
above. This will be on the grounds that there is evidence that the pupil’s learning and /or 

Page 28



physical difficulties prevent them from walking the statutory distance, even if 
accompanied by a responsible adult. 

NB If a parents working arrangements made it difficult to accompany their child to school, 
the parent has a duty to make arrangements for another responsible person to do so.

Some of the factors that will be considered are detailed in the table below:

Will consider Won’t consider
Safety of walking route Making two sets of arrangements for 

children who live between two parents 
addresses

Availability of alternatives (e.g. public 
transport)

Working hours of parent 

Physical capability of child to walk given 
distance
Cognitive  abilities associated with 
Severe Learning Difficulties (SLD) 
Emotional Immaturity with restricted 
mobility 
Sensory Impairment with restricted 
mobility.
Medical needs of child (e.g. need to 
travel with large medical equipment)
Long term Medical Condition with 
restricted mobility
Associated family circumstances (e.g. 
disability of parent - where the pupil lives 
with a single parent, ages of siblings)

Transport will not be provided:
 To work experience placements or other extracurricular placements.
 To dental or hospital appointments.
 To clinical, medical or non-educational appointments.
 In the event of sickness in the school day
 In the event of detention
 Following persistent misbehaviour occurring on transport

Reference should be made to the full Council’s Travel Assistance Policy.

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



 Public report
Cabinet Member Report

Cabinet Member for Education 8 April 2015

Name of Cabinet Member: 
Cabinet Member for Education – Councillor D Kershaw

Director Approving Submission of the report:
Executive Director of People

Ward(s) affected: All

Title: Determination of School Terms and Holidays 2016 – 2017

Is this a key decision?

No

Executive Summary:

This report informs Cabinet Member of the outcome of the public consultation on the School 
Terms and Holidays dates for 2016/2017 and asks Cabinet Member to agree the School Terms 
and Holidays Calendar for 2016/2017.

Currently the local authority is required to set term and holiday dates for community schools, 
community special schools, voluntary controlled schools, pupil referral units and maintained 
nursery schools. All schools in England are free to decide when their school day should start and 
end.

Governing bodies are required to set term and holiday dates in foundation and voluntary aided 
schools. The academy trust is responsible for the duration of the school year and term and 
holiday dates for academies and free schools.

The public consultation on the Coventry school terms and holidays dates 2016/2017 took place 
from 23 February 2015 to 10 March 2015. There were 493 valid replies to the consultation. The 
most popular of the three options available was Option 1 with pupils beginning their Christmas 
holidays on Monday 19 December. This was the preferred option of other West Midlands 
Authorities and Warwickshire. Details of the three options for School terms and holidays dates 
2016/2017 can be seen on pages 4 and 5 of the Consultation Document, which is found in 
Appendix 1.

Page 31

Agenda Item 5



Recommendations:

The Cabinet Member for Education is requested to:

(1) Consider the outcome of the public consultation on School Terms and Holidays and agree 
a calendar of School Terms and Holidays for 2016/2017.

(2) Adopt Option 1 as the School Terms and Holidays programme 2016/2017 for Community, 
Voluntary Controlled and Community Special Schools and maintained Nursery Schools.

(3) Invite the Catholic and Church of England Diocesan Authorities and the Governors of 
Trust Schools and Academies to recommend the same calendar for their schools.

List of Appendices included:

Appendix 1: School Terms and Holidays 2016/2017 Consultation Document

Background Papers

None

Other useful documents:

Education (School Day and School Year) (England) Regulations 1999 (for academic year length.)

Responsibility for fixing dates of terms and holidays and times of sessions

Draft Deregulation Bill  , Schedule 14, section 33

Has it been or will it be considered by Scrutiny?

 No

Has it been or will it be considered by any other Council Committee, Advisory Panel or 
other body?

No

Will this report go to Council?

No

Page 32

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/1999/3181/introduction/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2002/32/section/32
http://www.official-documents.gov.uk/document/cm86/8642/8642.pdf


Report title: Determination of School Terms and Holidays 2016 - 2017

1. Context (or background)

1.1 Under Section 32 of the  Education Act 2002 in the case of a community, voluntary 
controlled or community special school or a maintained nursery school the Local Authority 
is required to determine the dates when the school terms and holidays are to begin and 
end, and the governing body is required to determine the times of the school sessions.

1.2 Governing bodies are required to set term and holiday dates in foundation and voluntary 
aided schools. The academy trust is responsible for the duration of the school year and 
term and holiday dates for academies and free schools.

1.3 The draft Deregulation Bill proposes allowing governing bodies of community, voluntary 
controlled, community special schools and maintained nursery schools in England to set 
the dates when the school terms and holidays are to begin and end. The proposed change 
could take effect from September 2015 onwards. The Local Authority believes that a 
standard set of holiday dates adopted by all Coventry schools will be better for school 
attendance, the organisation of admissions to Year R/Year 7 and for parents and carers 
arranging childcare and transport. Coventry schools will be requested to adopt the outcome 
of this consultation.

1.4 The current Coventry Local Authority principles and protocols were taken into account 
when setting the 3 options for consideration:

 a school year is 195 days, with 190 pupil days and 5 teacher days; 
 1 teacher day is determined by the Local Authority and 4 days by individual schools; 
 statutory holidays are observed;
 schools prefer, especially secondary schools, full weeks of teaching wherever possible;
 schools prefer a full week break at half term and  two full weeks at Easter and 

Christmas; 
 half term holidays are set at the same time as those of neighbouring Authorities if 

possible.

The comments from consultations of previous years are also taken into account.

1.5 The half term holidays and Easter holidays in the 2016/17 consultation options have been 
set to the preferred option dates of Warwickshire and the neighbouring West Midlands 
authorities. Until these authorities have finished their own consultations their actual term 
and holiday dates are unknown.

1.6 There were 493 valid replies to the public consultation, which took place from 23 February 
2015 to 10 March 2015. The most popular overall of the 3 options available was Option 1 
with 249 votes. Option 2 had 129 votes and Option 3 had 107 votes. 8 respondents sent 
comments, but did not choose an option. 

2. Options considered and recommended proposal

2.1 The full details of the 3 options for School terms and holidays dates 2016/2017 can be 
seen in the Consultation Document found in Appendix 1. 

2.2 The protocols in paragraph 1.4 were complied with in all options. 

Page 33



2.3 In previous consultations head teachers and members of the public expressed a 
preference for school holidays to be set at the same time as those of neighbouring 
Authorities. In consideration of this viewpoint all consultation options have the same dates 
set for the half term holidays and Easter holidays as the preferred option dates of 
Warwickshire and the neighbouring West Midlands authorities. The Christmas holiday 
dates in option 1 are the same as the preferred option dates of Warwickshire and the 
neighbouring West Midlands authorities.

2.4 Teachers have expressed concern that pupils should have enough time in school after 
Easter to prepare properly for summer exams. They have also expressed a preference for 
equal term lengths. The table below shows the term lengths for each option offered in the 
consultation. 

                            Table 1: Term Lengths for Consultation Options
Option 1 Option 2 Option 3

Autumn 70 73 74
Spring 64 60 60
Summer 61 62 61
Total 195 195 195

Please note that these term lengths include the five teacher days.

Easter Sunday is 16 April 2017 so the spring term and summer term are similar lengths.

2.5 Easter Sunday is the middle Sunday in the school Easter holiday in all options. This allows 
time after Easter for exam preparation and gives more equal term lengths. Both the Easter 
and Christmas holidays are two complete weeks.

2.6 Having met the criteria in the protocols, paragraph 1.4, and preferences given in 
paragraphs 2.3 -2.5 there was very little scope for alternative options.  Head teachers and 
teachers have frequently mentioned that incomplete teaching weeks lower attendance, but 
incomplete weeks are unavoidable due to bank holidays and the requirement that there are 
190 days when pupils are taught. The consultation options gave an opportunity to choose 
alternative start dates to the Christmas holidays and alternative end dates to the academic 
year and make the best choice for attendance. 

3. Results of consultation undertaken

3.1 The Consultation Document was sent to head teachers and governing bodies of Coventry 
schools, Diocesan Boards of Education, Trade Unions and Early Years Providers. It was 
available to read on the Coventry City Council website, www.coventry.gov.uk. 

3.2 Replies were collected online from the Coventry City Council website.

3.3 There were 493 valid responses to the consultation coming from 460 individuals, 21 
schools, 4 other organisations and 8 respondents with no description.

3.4 The most popular choice was option 1 with 249 votes (50%). Option 2 had 129 votes 
(26%), Option 3 had 107 (22%) votes and 8 (2%) respondents chose to send comments 
only.

Page 34

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/


3.5 The results can be seen in Table 2 below. 

     Table 2: Summary of Replies

Response Type Option 
1

Option 
2

Option 
3 Grand Total

On behalf of a school or  
organisation   6   7        12 25

As an individual or unknown        243        122        95       460

Grand Total        249        129      107       485

3.6 The combined vote for Options 2 and 3 was 236, only 13 below Option 1.

3.7 Option 1 was more popular than Options 2 and 3 and aligns with neighbouring authorities 
so Option 1 is recommended as the School Terms and Holidays calendar for 2016/2017 for 
Coventry Community, Voluntary Controlled and Community Special Schools, and 
maintained Nursery Schools. 

4. Timetable for implementing this decision

4.1 When the cabinet member decision becomes effective schools will be informed of the 
approved school terms and holidays calendar for 2016/17. The approved calendar will also 
be displayed on the City Council website.

4.2 Catholic and Church of England Diocesan Authorities, governors of voluntary aided 
schools, governors of trust schools, free schools and academy trusts and will be informed 
and invited to recommend the same calendar for their schools

5. Comments from the Executive Director of Resources

5.1 Financial implications

There are no financial implications.

5.2 Legal implications

Under Section 32 of the Education Act 2002 in the case of a community, voluntary 
controlled, community special school or a maintained nursery school the local authority is 
required to determine the dates when the school terms and holidays are to begin and end. 
The governing body is required to determine the times of the school sessions.

          
        The governing body in the case of foundation, voluntary aided, foundation special schools 

and academies are required to determine school terms and holidays dates and school 
sessions. 

  
         Paragraph 3 of Schedule 14 of the Government's draft De-Regulation Bill moves all 

responsibility for determining term dates in community, voluntary controlled, community 
special schools and maintained nursery schools from the local authority to the Governing 
Body. If approved the governing body of all such maintained schools will be responsible for 
determining their school's term and holiday dates each year as is the case now for all 
voluntary aided, foundation and academy schools.

Page 35



6. Other implications

6.1 How will this contribute to achievement of the Council's key objectives / corporate 
priorities (corporate plan/scorecard) / organisational blueprint / Local Area 
Agreement (or Coventry Sustainable Community Strategy)?

The Local Authority is required to determine the dates when the school terms and holidays 
are to begin and end for community, voluntary controlled and community special schools 
and maintained nursery schools. 

Appropriate school term and holiday dates can increase attendance and aid curriculum 
planning so helping pupil achievement.

6.2 How is risk being managed?

Current legislation on the number of teaching sessions has been complied with.
Trade unions were asked to consider the calendar options prior to the public consultation to 
ensure that the options were acceptable to their members.
The public consultation considered in this report has enabled various points of view from 
school staff and governors, parents and carers and pupils to be taken into account.

6.3 What is the impact on the organisation?

Centrally employed staff on Teachers Pay and Conditions will have their holiday pattern 
determined by this consultation. 

6.4 Equalities / EIA 

Although all the views of different groups are considered in setting term dates, Government 
legislation and the protocols given in paragraph 1.4 limit the flexibility of the dates for 
school terms and holidays.

Before the start of the public consultation on School Terms and Holidays 2016/17 
Warwickshire and West Midlands local authorities and unions were consulted to find out if 
there were any issues they believed would affect setting the school term and holiday dates. 
No specific equalities issues were identified through this process.

The public consultation on the Coventry school term and holiday dates 2016/17 took place 
from 23 February 2015 to 10 March 2015. The consultation aimed to establish the views of 
governors, head teachers, teachers, parents and carers of pupils and other school 
employees.

The Consultation Document was sent to head teachers and chairs of governing bodies of 
Coventry schools, Diocesan Boards of Education, Trade Unions and Early Years Providers 
and was also available on the Coventry City Council website, www.coventry.gov.uk. The 
consultation was publicised in the local newspaper and on social media. The consultation 
document was available in other formats and languages on request. 

The survey asked for comments from respondents to further inform the decision.

The data received mainly reflected the views of governors, teachers, and parents and 
carers of pupils and did not raise any equalities issues. 

 

Page 36



6.5 Implications for  (or impact on) the environment

None

6.6 Implications for partner organisations?

It is desirable to align school holidays with those of neighbouring local authorities to 
minimise the difficulties to families such as those where parents work or live in a different 
authority to that of the school attended by their children or where siblings attend schools in 
different authorities.

Page 37



Report author(s):

Name and job title: 
Margaret Halpin, Information Analyst

Directorate: 
People

Tel and email contact: 
Tel: 024 7683 1581
Email: margaret.halpin@coventry.gov.uk 

Enquiries should be directed to the above person.

Contributor/approver 
name

Title Directorate or 
organisation

Date doc 
sent out

Date response 
received or 
approved

Contributors:
Michelle Salmon Governance 

Services 
Officers

Resources 12/03/15 13/03/15

Names of approvers for 
submission: 
(officers and Members)
Rachel Sugars Finance 

Manager
Resources 12/03/15 16/03/15

Elaine Atkins Solicitor, Legal 
Services

Resources 12/03/15 12/03/15

Myran Larkin Human 
Resources 
Schools

Resources 12/03/15 16/03/15

Brian Walsh Executive 
Director

People 12/03/15 26/03/15

Councillor D Kershaw Cabinet 
Member 
(Education)

- 12/03/15 26/03/15

This report is published on the council's website: www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings 

Page 38

mailto:margaret.halpin@coventry.gov.uk
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/councilmeetings


Appendix1

Coventry City Council People's Directorate

School Terms and Holidays 2016/2017 Consultation

23 February 2015 to 10 March 2015

INTRODUCTION

Coventry Local Authority is now seeking your views on school terms and holidays options for the 
2016/2017 academic year.

The draft Deregulation Bill proposes allowing governing bodies of community, voluntary 
controlled, community special and maintained nursery schools in England to set their own school 
term and holiday dates from September 2015 onwards. The Governing Bodies of academies, 
free schools, foundation/trust and voluntary aided schools currently have the power to set the 
term and holiday dates for their own schools.

The Local Authority believes that a standard set of holiday dates adopted by all Coventry schools 
will be better for school attendance, the organisation of admissions to Year R/Year 7 and for 
parents and carers arranging childcare and transport. The term and holiday setting procedure 
will continue for 2016/17 as in previous years and Coventry schools will be requested to adopt 
the outcome of this consultation.

BACKGROUND

Coventry takes into account the following principles in setting calendars for school terms and 
holidays:

 a school year is 195 days, with 190 pupil days and five teacher days; 
 one teacher day is determined by the Local Authority and four days by individual schools; 
 statutory holidays are observed;
 schools prefer full weeks of teaching wherever possible;
 schools prefer a full week break at half term and two full weeks at Easter and Christmas; 
 half term holidays are set at the same time as those of neighbouring authorities if 

possible.

The comments from consultations of previous years are also taken into account.

TEACHER DAYS

A teacher day is a work day for teachers, but not a pupil teaching day 

If a community or voluntary controlled school decides to close to pupils on an election day then 
one of the remaining four teacher days must be used for this purpose.  This is also 
recommended for foundation/trust and voluntary aided schools and for academies. 

There are no Local Election dates currently set for 2017.

Page 39



OPTIONS FOR THE 2016/2017 ACADEMIC YEAR  

Until other West Midlands and Warwickshire Local Authorities have finished their own 
consultations their final term and holiday dates are unknown.  Option 1 gives the West Midlands 
and Warwickshire Local Authorities preferred options for 2016/17 term and holiday dates. 
Options 2 and 3 begin and end the Christmas holiday later than in Option 1. Option 2 ends the 
academic year 1 day later than Option 1.

Coventry City Council is asking for your option preference for the choices below. Holiday dates 
are inclusive.

Option 1
Autumn Term 2016

 Term Starts Tuesday 6 September 2016 for pupils (Monday 5 September 2016 
for teachers)

 Half Term Monday 24 October 2016 to Friday 28 October2016
 Term Ends Friday 16 December 2016

Spring Term 2017
 Term Starts    Tuesday 3 January 2017 
 Half Term Monday 20 February 2017 to Friday 24 February 2017
 Term Ends Friday 7 April 2017

Summer Term 2017
 Term Starts Monday 24 April 2017 
 Half Term Monday 29 May 2017 to Friday 2 June 2017
 Term Ends Tuesday 25 July 2017

Option 2
As Option 1 with the following changes:

Autumn Term 2016
 Term Ends Wednesday 21 December 2016 

Spring Term 2017
 Term Starts Monday 9 January 2017

Summer Term 2017
 Term Ends Wednesday 26 July 2017

Option 3
As Option 1 with the following changes:

Autumn Term 2016
 Term Ends Thursday 22 December 2016 

Spring Term 2017
 Term Starts Monday 9 January 2017

These options are illustrated in calendar format on page 4 

PLEASE MAKE YOUR VIEWS KNOWN 

This consultation document is currently available to download from the Coventry City Council 
website by following the School Term Times link.

Page 40



Your views are important. Please make them known by completing the online feedback 
form on the Council's website by following the link  

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/termdates
or  http://www.coventry.gov.uk/consultations

REPLIES MUST BE RECEIVED BEFORE 5:00 PM TUESDAY 10 MARCH 2015.

WHAT HAPPENS NEXT

The consultation period runs from Monday 23 February 2015 to 5:00 pm Tuesday10 March 
2015. All responses received during the consultation period will be collated and reported to 
Cabinet Member (Education), on 8 April 2015, for his decision.

Following the decision by the Cabinet Member (Education), the dates of the Terms and Holidays 
for Academic Year 2016/17 will be available on the School Term and Holiday page of the 
Coventry City Council website 

Page 41

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/termdates
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/consultations
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/info/36/school-term_and_holiday_dates/45/school_term_dates


Option 1(West Midlands and Warwickshire Local Authorities preferred options)

July 2016 August 2016 September 2016
Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su

1 2 3 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 31 1 2 3 4
4 5 6 7 8 9 10 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 5 6 7 8 9 10 11
11 12 13 14 15 16 17 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 12 13 14 15 16 17 18
18 19 20 21 22 23 24 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 19 20 21 22 23 24 25
25 26 27 28 29 30 31 29 30 31 26 27 28 29 30

October 2016 November 2016 December 2016
Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su

1 2 1 2 3 4 5 6 1 2 3 4
3 4 5 6 7 8 9 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 5 6 7 8 9 10 11
10 11 12 13 14 15 16 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 12 13 14 15 16 17 18
17 18 19 20 21 22 23 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 19 20 21 22 23 24 25
24 25 26 27 28 29 30 28 29 30 26 27 28 29 30 31
31

January 2017 February 2017 March 2017
Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su

1 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5
2 3 4 5 6 7 8 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 6 7 8 9 10 11 12
9 10 11 12 13 14 15 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 13 14 15 16 17 18 19
16 17 18 19 20 21 22 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 20 21 22 23 24 25 26
23 24 25 26 27 28 29 27 28 27 28 29 30 31
30 31

April 2017 May 2017 June 2017
Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su

1 2 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 1 2 3 4
3 4 5 6 7 8 9 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 5 6 7 8 9 10 11
10 11 12 13 14 15 16 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 12 13 14 15 16 17 18
17 18 19 20 21 22 23 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 19 20 21 22 23 24 25
24 25 26 27 28 29 30 29 30 31 26 27 28 29 30

July 2017
Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su

1 2
3 4 5 6 7 8 9 Key
10 11 12 13 14 15 16
17 18 19 20 21 22 23 Bank Holiday
24 25 26 27 28 29 30 School Holiday
31 30 Teacher day

Teachers return to school on 5 September 2016 and pupils return on 6 September 2016 in all 3 options

Option 2

July 2016 August 2016 September 2016
Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su

1 2 3 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 1 2 3 4
4 5 6 7 8 9 10 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 5 6 7 8 9 10 11
11 12 13 14 15 16 17 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 12 13 14 15 16 17 18
18 19 20 21 22 23 24 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 19 20 21 22 23 24 25
25 26 27 28 29 30 31 29 30 31 26 27 28 29 30

October 2016 November 2016 December 2016
Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su

1 2 1 2 3 4 5 6 1 2 3 4
3 4 5 6 7 8 9 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 5 6 7 8 9 10 11
10 11 12 13 14 15 16 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 12 13 14 15 16 17 18
17 18 19 20 21 22 23 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 19 20 21 22 23 24 25
24 25 26 27 28 29 30 28 29 30 26 27 28 29 30 31
31

January 2017 February 2017 March 2017
Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su

1 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5
2 3 4 5 6 7 8 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 6 7 8 9 10 11 12
9 10 11 12 13 14 15 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 13 14 15 16 17 18 19
16 17 18 19 20 21 22 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 20 21 22 23 24 25 26
23 24 25 26 27 28 29 27 28 27 28 29 30 31
30 31

April 2017 May 2017 June 2017
Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su

1 2 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 1 2 3 4
3 4 5 6 7 8 9 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 5 6 7 8 9 10 11
10 11 12 13 14 15 16 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 12 13 14 15 16 17 18
17 18 19 20 21 22 23 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 19 20 21 22 23 24 25
24 25 26 27 28 29 30 29 30 31 26 27 28 29 30

July 2017
Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su

1 2
3 4 5 6 7 8 9 Key
10 11 12 13 14 15 16
17 18 19 20 21 22 23 Bank Holiday
24 25 26 27 28 29 30 School Holiday
31 30 Teacher day

Page 42



Option 3

July 2016 August 2016 September 2016
Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su

1 2 3 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 1 2 3 4
4 5 6 7 8 9 10 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 5 6 7 8 9 10 11
11 12 13 14 15 16 17 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 12 13 14 15 16 17 18
18 19 20 21 22 23 24 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 19 20 21 22 23 24 25
25 26 27 28 29 30 31 29 30 31 26 27 28 29 30

October 2016 November 2016 December 2016
Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su

1 2 1 2 3 4 5 6 1 2 3 4
3 4 5 6 7 8 9 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 5 6 7 8 9 10 11
10 11 12 13 14 15 16 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 12 13 14 15 16 17 18
17 18 19 20 21 22 23 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 19 20 21 22 23 24 25
24 25 26 27 28 29 30 28 29 30 26 27 28 29 30 31
31

January 2017 February 2017 March 2017
Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su

1 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5
2 3 4 5 6 7 8 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 6 7 8 9 10 11 12
9 10 11 12 13 14 15 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 13 14 15 16 17 18 19
16 17 18 19 20 21 22 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 20 21 22 23 24 25 26
23 24 25 26 27 28 29 27 28 27 28 29 30 31
30 31

April 2017 May 2017 June 2017
Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su

1 2 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 1 2 3 4
3 4 5 6 7 8 9 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 5 6 7 8 9 10 11
10 11 12 13 14 15 16 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 12 13 14 15 16 17 18
17 18 19 20 21 22 23 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 19 20 21 22 23 24 25
24 25 26 27 28 29 30 29 30 31 26 27 28 29 30

July 2017
Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su

1 2 Key
3 4 5 6 7 8 9
10 11 12 13 14 15 16 Bank Holiday
17 18 19 20 21 22 23 School Holiday
24 25 26 27 28 29 30 30 Teacher day
31

Your opinions are valued.
Please return your response before 5:00 PM TUESDAY 10 MARCH 2015 

            by using the online form on the Council's website:   

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/termdates

or

             http://www.coventry.gov.uk/consultations

Page 43

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/termdates
http://www.coventry.gov.uk/consultations


School Terms and Holidays 2016/2017 Questionnaire

This survey is being carried out by Coventry City Council, in line with the Data Protection 
Act 1998. The data controller is Coventry City Council. The information collected in this 
survey will be used by Coventry City Council for the purposes of setting the School Term 
and Holiday Dates for Community Schools in 2016/17. A final report will be published 
here: www.coventry.gov.uk/previousconsultations after 26 April 2015. All information 
produced will be anonymised.

1) In what capacity are you responding (please tick one)?

As an Individual
On behalf of an Organisation

If you are replying on behalf of an organisation please could you give the name of 
the organisation?

2) Please tick the description that best fits you (select all that apply).

Head Teacher Other school employee
Teacher Parent/carer
Chair of Governors Member of the public
Governor Other (please specify)
Trade Union representative

If you ticked Other, please provide details:

3) Please tick your preferred academic year option

Option 1
Option 2
Option 3

4) Additional Comments:
A brief statement of the reason for your decision gives a better understanding of the 
priorities for schools and their users when term dates are set. Reasons might include 
curriculum planning, family holidays coinciding, culture or faith.

Page 44

http://www.coventry.gov.uk/previousconsultations


About you:

Please provide some information about yourself so that we can monitor which groups of people 
are taking part in the consultation. 

Please be advised that the information you provide will be stored on SurveyMonkey servers in 
the United States of America and Survey Monkey gives an undertaking never to disclose the 
survey questions or your response to others without permission. All data will be held securely. 
You are under no obligation to complete this section of the survey if you do not wish to.

How old are you?

Under 16 55 – 64
16 - 24 65 – 74
25 - 34 75 – 84
35 - 44 85+
45 - 54

What is your gender?

Male
Female

What is your ethnic background?

White - British (includes English / Welsh / Scottish / 
Northern Irish)

Asian/ Asian British – Pakistani
Asian/ Asian British - Bangladeshi

White - Irish Chinese
White - Gypsy/Irish Traveller Asian/ Asian British - Other
White - Other Black/ Black British - African
Mixed - White and Black Caribbean Black/ Black British - Caribbean
Mixed - White and Black African Black/Black British - Other
Mixed - White and Asian Arab
Mixed - Other Any other ethnic group
Asian/ Asian British - Indian

What is your religion?

No religion Jewish
MuslimChristian (including Church of England, Catholic, 

Protestant and all other Christian denominations) Sikh
Buddhist Any other religion
Hindu

Do you consider yourself to be a disabled person?

Yes
No

Thank you for taking the time to complete this survey.

Page 45



If you need this information in another format or language 
please contact us.

Telephone: (024) 7683 1581
Fax: (024) 7683 3899

E-mail: margaret.halpin@coventry.gov.uk

Or

                   Datateam.PD@coventry.gov.uk

Please use Terms and Holidays in your email subject title

Page 46

mailto:margaret.halpin@coventry.gov.uk

	Agenda
	3a To agree the minutes of the meeting held on 10th March 2015
	4 Feedback from the Consultation on Potential Changes to the Eligibility Policy for School Transport for Pupils with Special Education Needs and Disabilities
	5 Determination of School Terms and Holidays 2016 - 2017

